IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

GRADY CARTER AND MILDRED CARTER, Petitioners,

VS.

CASE NO.: 94, 797 FIRST DCA CASE NO.: 96-4831

BROWN & WILLIAMSON TOBACCO CORPORATION, as successor by merger to THE AMERICAN TOBACCO COMPANY,

Respondent.

ON PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW OF A DECISION OF THE FIRST DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

PETITIONERS' INITIAL BRIEF

SPOHRER WILNER MAXWELL & MATTHEWS, P.A.

Norwood S. Wilner Florida Bar No.: 222194 Gregory H. Maxwell Florida Bar No.: 259888 Stephanie J. Hartley Florida Bar No.: 997846 444 East Duval Street Jacksonville, Florida 32202 (904) 354-8310

Attorneys for Petitioners Grady and Mildred Carter JOHNSTON HAMMOND & BURNETT

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

Petitioners Grady Carter and Mildred Carter, his wife, seek review of the Florida First District Court of Appeal's decision reversing a jury verdict in their favor against Brown & Williamson Tobacco Corporation ("B&W"), as successor by merger to The American Tobacco Company ("ATC"). *Brown & Williamson Tobacco Corporation v. Carter*, 723 So.2d 833 (Fla. 1 DCA 1998), A 1. The Carters timely filed a motion for rehearing, clarification, and for rehearing en banc in the district court. Their motion for rehearing was denied by decision filed by the district court on December 31, 1998. Timely Notice to Invoke Discretionary Jurisdiction of this Court was filed by the Carters on 1/29/99, and this Court accepted jurisdiction by order dated May 25, 1999.

Grady Carter began smoking unfiltered Lucky Strike cigarettes as a 16 year old in 1947. He continued to smoke Lucky Strikes up until 1972 at which time he switched to a different brand. R53:2144-45; 2148. At the time he began smoking as a teenager, Mr. Carter had no knowledge or awareness that cigarette smoking could harm him in any way. However, as he grew older, he became gradually aware of the dangers of cigarette smoking and began making repeated, unsuccessful attempts to quit smoking. R53:2148-50; 2153-73. Mr. Carter tried a number of different methods to quit smoking which included: trying to quit by laying the cigarettes down and walking away from them; the use of over-the-counter medications; the use of graduated filters; treatment at a "nicotine withdrawal clinic" which involved injections into his ear lobes, temples, and nose; hypnosis; a mechanical watch-like device; and a nicotine substitute in the form of chewing gum. R53:2153-73. Mr. Carter was eventually successful in quitting smoking with the assistance of his physician, who prescribed medication to assist him in permanently quitting. R53:2192-93.

In late January, 1991, Mr. Carter spit up blood. R53:2178. He immediately made an appointment with his doctor for 2/4/91. Concerned that something was wrong

he looked in a medical book and found two things that would result in spitting up blood: lung cancer and tuberculosis. R53:2178-79. Although not noted in the district court's decision, Mr. Carter testified that he was concerned about the possibility of tuberculosis because he had been exposed to an individual at work who had that disease. R53:2181-82, A 2. On 2/4/91, Dr. Decker took chest x-rays and told Mr. Carter he observed an abnormality on his lung which could indicate several things, including cancer or tuberculosis. R53:2181. Dr. Decker referred him to a pulmonary specialist, Dr. Yergin. Mr. Carter saw Dr. Yergin the next day, 2/5/91. R53:2181-83. When Dr. Yergin saw Mr. Carter on 2/5/91, he reviewed the x-ray taken by Dr. Decker and observed a large left upper lobe mass lesion which he indicated on his report of that visit was highly suggestive of a neoplasm, i.e. lung tumor. A 3. However, he did not know what the nodule was on that day, and while suggestive of a neoplasm, it could have been tuberculosis or a slowly resolving pneumonia. R39:553; 558. Although not noted by the district court, no evidence was presented at trial that either tuberculosis or pneumonia are caused by cigarette smoking. Because cancer cannot be reliably differentiated from other ailments by chest x-ray alone, Dr. Yergin testified that it would not have been correct to tell Mr. Carter on February 5 that he had lung cancer, and he, in fact, did not tell Mr. Carter on that date that he had lung cancer. R39: 554; 558, A 4. Several additional tests were necessary to make an accurate diagnosis including a bronchoscopy, in which a tissue sample is obtained and tested. R39:554-56.

Dr. Yergin's chart of February 5 reflects his impressions: "left upper lobe nodule, COPD, chronic bronchitis, cigarette abuse of approximately 65 pack years, history of nephrolithiasis, previous history of ulcer disease, status post pneumothorax 1958". R39:557; A 5. Although not noted by the district court in its decision, no testimony was elicited at trial that Dr. Yergin discussed any of these impressions or the cause of same with Mr. Carter before 2/10/91, (the operative date for the statute of limitations) with the exception of the left upper lobe nodule, which was discussed to

the extent indicated above. At trial, neither Dr. Yergin nor Mr. Carter were asked *when* it was that Mr. Carter was informed about the impressions of bronchitis or COPD.

On 2/12/91, Dr. Yergin performed the additional tests on Mr. Carter, including the bronchoscopy. The bronchoscopy pathology report showed Mr. Carter had lung cancer. Dr. Yergin told Mr. Carter he had lung cancer on 2/14/91. R39:565-66. Mr. Carter testified that prior to 2/14/91, he did not know for sure what the problem was. R53:2187.

On 2/10/95, less than four years after Mr. Carter had been told he had lung cancer, the Carters filed their complaint against ATC alleging counts for strict liability and negligence. The Carters later moved to amend the style of their case to reflect the merger of ATC into B&W, which merger the Carters learned of after their complaint was filed. R2:335-36; R3:454. The case proceeded to trial and the jury returned a verdict in favor of the Carters on both the negligence and the strict liability counts. The jury also determined that the Carters' cause of action was not barred by the applicable four year statute of limitations. A 7. On appeal, the district court reversed, holding that (1) the Carters' action was barred as a matter of law by the four year statute of limitations; (2) the trial court erred in permitting the Carters to violate the preemptive scope of the 1969 Federal Cigarette Labelling Act; and (3) the trial court erred in allowing the Carters to proceed at trial on an "unpleaded claim". The district court also addressed two other issues raised by B&W concerning the admission into evidence of a certain memorandum and the use of allegedly speculative testimony from Mr. Carter and the Carters' expert witness, Dr. Feingold. The district court ruled, however, that any error with respect to those issues was insignificant and that it would not reverse as to either. Accordingly, those issues are not addressed in this brief.

V. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Statute of Limitations. Mr. Carter was in the midst of a diagnostic procedure on 2/10/91, four years from which his case against B&W was filed. He had been told on 2/5/91 he could have tuberculosis, pneumonia, or lung cancer, two of which were not attributable to cigarettes. Prompt diagnostic tests came in on 2/12/91, and Mr. Carter was told of the cancer on 2/14/91, within the statutory limitations period for the claim. The district court erred in holding that limitations commenced in middiagnosis, misapplying this court's *Tanner v. Hartog* and *Celotex Corp. v. Copeland* decisions. The district court found he had knowledge of a "reasonable possibility of *injury*" prior to 2/14/91. The correct test was "knowledge of injury" and knowledge of a "reasonable possibility that the injury was caused by negligence or defect." By using this incorrect "possibility" test, the district court erroneously circumvented the jury. "Knowledge" includes, of course, knowledge obtainable through reasonable diligence; however, there was no suggestion of lack of diligence in obtaining information. Mr. Carter had no "knowledge of injury," in this case, prior to his diligently-pursued diagnosis on 2/14/91. The court misapplied Copeland by holding that only a "misdiagnosis" creates a jury issue on knowledge of injury; however, Ash v. Stella, and other Florida cases make it clear that a tentative or provisional diagnosis may be considered by the jury as insufficient knowledge of injury. Likewise, the jury could well have concluded that Mr. Carter lacked knowledge of a reasonable possibility that his injury was caused by the defect in the product, especially in view of B&W's denials that its products were hazardous in any way; this was an alternate ground that the jury could have used. Finally, it appears that Mr. Carter had separate, divisible injuries with separate limitations periods; this was a further alternate ground to sustain the jury's verdict.

Preemption. The district court erred in holding that certain evidence ran afoul of federal preemption. *First*, plaintiffs acknowledged the fair reach of preemption, and did not make a claim for post-1970 failure to warn. The jury was properly instructed

on this. A sample package insert showing plaintiff's contended adequate warning, was specifically in testimony *related only to pre-1970 warning claims*. Other evidence consisting mostly of remarks by counsel, according to the court, violated preemption because it *implied* that the post-1970 warnings were inadequate. An issue preclusion doctrine, preemption bars *claims* not *evidence*. The evidence complained of was relevant to other claims and issues, including responding to B&W's defenses and establishing lack of consumer expectation in a product defect case. Furthermore, the district court used a discredited *implied preemption* analysis, one specifically overruled by the U.S. Supreme Court in *Cipollone v. Liggett Group, Inc, infra*.

Unpleaded Claim. The district court erred in several areas. *First*, B&W's "unpleaded claim" argument was really an evidentiary challenge in disguise. As such, in evaluating whether the challenged evidence was properly admitted a standard of abuse of discretion is required, which abuse the district court failed to find. Under this Court's ruling in Sims v. Brown, infra, reversal of the Carters' judgment on this ground cannot be sustained. Second, the record reflects that there were, in fact, good and valid grounds for the admission of the evidence. Third, the complained-of comments by the Carters' counsel, and from the plaintiffs' expert Dr. Feingold, viewed in proper context, did not constitute an "unpleaded claim". The complained-of evidence, going to knowledge and conduct of B&W, was relevant to show industry-wide state-of-theart. Evidence showing that B&W had failed to turn over addiction research to the Surgeon General was also relevant to impeach B&W's argument that the 1964 Surgeon General's report was authoritative on the subject of addiction at that time, and therefore the trial court did not abuse its discretion in admitting same. Finally, contrary to the district court's holding, the record reflects that B&W was not unfairly surprised at trial by the use of its own documents against it.

VI. THE JURY VERDICT ON THE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS IS SUPPORTABLE BECAUSE A DILIGENTLY PURSUED DIAGNOSIS IN A LATENT DISEASE CASE MAY BE CONSIDERED THE FIRST KNOWLEDGE OF INJURY

A. The discovery rule is the basis for the statute of limitations.

Sections 95.11(3)(e) and 95.031(2), FLA. STAT. (1995) define the products liability statute of limitations. They require that a products liability action must be begun within four years from *the time the facts giving rise to the cause of action were discovered*, or should have been discovered, with the exercise of due diligence. Under the "discovery rule," the time limit for obligatory filing is defined *relative* to the date of diligent discovery, *by the plaintiff*, of the cause of action. Florida's discovery rule aligns with the national majority. *Celotex Corp v. Meehan*, 523 So.2d 141, 150 (Fla. 1988). It was applied by the Third District in *Copeland v. Armstrong Cork Co.*, 447 So.2d 922, 924 footnote 5 (Fla. 3 DCA 1984) to a latent disease case involving exposure to a deleterious product, a decision approved by this Court in *Celotex Corporation v. Copeland*, 471 So.2d 533, 539 (Fla. 1985).

This Court's most recent explanation of the statute of limitations, *Tanner v. Hartog*, 618 So.2d 177 (Fla. 1993), clarified the principles of the discovery rule in the context of the medical malpractice limitations statute (which also speaks in terms of discovery of the cause of action):

We hold that the knowledge of the injury as referred to in the rule as triggering the statute of limitations means not only **knowledge of the injury** but also **knowledge that there is a reasonable possibility that the injury was caused by medical malpractice.** *Id.* at page 181.

Translating the rule of *Tanner* from the malpractice setting to the products liability setting requires, it would seem, that the phrase "medical malpractice" be replaced by "defect in the product", or "negligence of the manufacturer". Note that "knowledge of the injury" is *not* the same as "knowledge of the *possibility* of injury." The "possibility" referenced in *Tanner* is the knowledge of the reasonable possibility that the injury was *caused by medical malpractice*, which in the products liability setting is the *reasonable possibility of defect in the product or negligence of the*

manufacturer. "Knowledge of the injury" in both settings must affirmatively exist — the Plaintiff, with due diligence, must know that he has been "injured". A mere possibility of injury cannot logically begin the statute, because every cough or sneeze brings with it a possibility of injury. Especially in a latent disease case, as argued below, mere "possibility" of injury could always exist and should not be used as a basis for eliminating the role of the jury in determination of the statute of limitations.

B. In a latent disease products liability case, discovery of the "injury" can require medical confirmation.

What is the "injury" that Plaintiff must discover to accrue his cause of action? Obviously, an injury is not just any "effect" or "symptom" but must be sufficient upon which to *base a claim against the defendant* whose conduct Plaintiff contends resulted in his injury. As argued below, in a products case, Plaintiff must be able to *attribute* his injury to the product, otherwise he cannot base a claim against the manufacturer thereof.

In some cases the connection between the injury and the product is known to the lay person without medical confirmation, as when a drug causes immediate and dramatic harmful effects as soon as it is ingested. Medical confirmation is not needed in that case to tie that injury to the product. In latent disease cases, however, the time that passes between *exposure* and *manifestation* of injury is so attenuated that the lay person does not automatically have knowledge of the connection between the two: cause and effect is not knowable by the untrained Plaintiff. In such cases, a reasonable jury can find that *medical confirmation is necessary* for the plaintiff to have "knowledge of the injury".

This was the holding of the latent disease products liability cases of *Brown v*. *Armstrong World Industries, Inc.*, 441 So.2d 1098 (Fla. 3 DCA 1983) and *Szabo v*. *Ashland Oil Company*, 448 So.2d 549 (Fla. 3 DCA 1984), decisions that conflict with the District Court in this case. In *Brown* and *Szabo*, the Third District recognized that the Plaintiff could not be said, as a matter of law, to have knowledge that he had

been injured for purposes of accrual of his cause of action, until his physician was able to establish *to a reasonable medical certainty* a cause and effect relationship between Plaintiff's exposure to the product and his injury.

The need for confirmation in a latent disease case was also recognized by the First District in *Barnes v. Clark Sand Company, Inc.*, 721 So.2d 329 (Fla. 1st. DCA 1998), another conflicting decision. Although *Barnes* involved the products liability statute of repose, which has since been repealed, the court's reasoning was instructive; the court agreed with the analysis of the Third District in *Owens-Corning Fiberglass Corp. v. Corcoran*, 679 So.2d 291 (Fla. 3 DCA 1996), that manifestation of symptoms must be *sufficient to support a medical diagnosis*. This reasoning also agrees with the holding of this Court in *Copeland*: "manifestation of injury" necessarily presupposes the Plaintiff's *knowledge of the relationship between the symptoms of the disease and exposure to the allegedly defective product. Id.* at page 332-333. The unworkable alternative is to put the plaintiff in jeopardy such that every passing cough, sneeze, or ailment, real or imagined, could *possibly* relate to something ingested 20 years ago and thus begin the statute of limitations for more serious diseases yet undiagnosed.

C. The Copeland cases hold that determination of when the cause of action has accrued under the discovery rule is generally a jury question and that the jury can conclude that discovery occurs upon medical diagnosis.

Determination of "discovery" questions necessarily involves questions of knowledge, opportunity to observe, diligence, and interpretation of conversations. These are "inherently debatable questions" that are traditionally decided by juries unless reasonable people could not disagree. *The instant case cannot be reconciled with Copeland v. Armstrong Cork Co., supra*, where the Third District stated:

Admittedly, there is no magic moment when this point in time arrives as we often deal here with **inherently debatable questions** about which reasonable people may differ. For that reason, **these matters are generally treated as fact questions for a jury to resolve**, and therefore inappropriate for resolution on a summary judgment or directed verdict. 477 So.2d at 926.

In *Copeland* the Third District discussed at length the evidence presented both supporting and contradicting whether the product-related disease had sufficiently manifested itself to the Plaintiff more than four years before he filed his action. The court held that on the conflicting evidence a reasonable jury could have concluded either way, and determined that *a reasonable jury could select the date that the Plaintiff was informed of the diagnosis of the product-related disease as the date that his action accrued and limitations began to run. Id. at 927-28.*

In affirming the Third District's decision, this Court emphasized that the determination was a "question of fact:"

[T]he record reflects that Copeland was not diagnosed as having asbestosis until 1978. We agree with the District Court that, under these circumstances, when the disease manifested itself was a question of fact not subject to resolution by summary judgment. . . Celotex Corporation v. Copeland, supra at page 539.

Accord, Barnes v. Clark Sand Company, Inc., supra at page 332-333. This Court's holding in Copeland is consistent with the decisions discussed above in Section B that discovery of the injury can require medical confirmation; indeed this court cited Brown v. Armstrong World Industries with approval. Id. page 539. The holding of the Copeland cases is in accord with long-settled Florida jurisprudence that factual issues are for the jury and that it is not the function of an appellate court to reevaluate the evidence and substitute its judgment for that of the jury. Helman v. Seaboard Coastline R. Co., 349 So.2d 1187 (Fla. 1977). In the instant case there was considerable evidence that indicated a non-product condition; the jury, not the appellate court, should be permitted to weigh that evidence.

D. The First District erred in limiting the holding of the Copeland cases to circumstances where the claimant has been misdiagnosed as not suffering from a product-related injury.

In the present case, the First District erroneously accepted the argument of B&W that *Copeland's* holding that the accrual issue is for the jury was limited to cases involving a *misdiagnosis* of a non-product related disease, because the Third

District in *Copeland* stated "decisive here is the Plaintiff's consultation with two doctors immediately after serious symptoms appeared when the Plaintiff's condition was diagnosed as emphysema and pneumonia unrelated to the job." 447 So.2d at 927. This statement, however, was immediately followed by the Third District's observation that, in fact, a doctor did advise the plaintiff to "change jobs" to avoid asbestos exposure (thus creating at least the possibility of connecting the disease to the product):

[T]his disclosure, we think, could lead a reasonable person to conclude, as the Plaintiff did, that this condition was not related to the asbestos dust at all. Indeed, the inference is irresistible as it was based on expert medical advice, rather than lay opinion. Still, it is true that one of those doctors did advise the plaintiff to change jobs so as to avoid the subject asbestos dust, which, it is urged, shows evidence that the Plaintiff's serious symptoms were related to the asbestos dust. Perhaps, but again this is a question of fact for a jury to resolve, as conflicting reasonable inferences can surely be drawn from such a statement. *Id.* at page 928.

The First District below read the *Copeland* decisions too narrowly. Those decisions more broadly hold that *where there is evidence that the Plaintiff has reason to believe he does not have a product-related disease*, a jury reasonably can find that accrual awaits medical diagnosis. The evidence that can support such a conclusion by the jury is not limited to evidence of a misdiagnosis of Plaintiff's condition, as shown above in section B and below in section E.

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