IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

GRADY CARTER and MILDRED CARTER,

Petitioners,

vs.

CASE NO. 94,797

BROWN & WILLIAMSON TOBACCO CO., as successor by merger to The American Tobacco Co.,

Respondent.

#### AMENDED RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

On Writ of Discretionary Review To The District Court of Appeal, First District

J.W. Prichard, Jr. Florida Bar No. 175528 Robert B. Parrish Florida Bar No. 056942 Moseley, Warren, Prichard & Parrish 501 West Bay Street Jacksonville, FL 32202 (904) 356-1306

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

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Petitioners' claims were barred by limitations, because Grady Carter was on notice that he might have an injury caused by smoking before February 10, 1991. Relying on University of Miami v. Bogorff, 583 So.2d 1000 (Fla. 1991), the District Court correctly held that medical confirmation of lung cancer was not required for Carter's claims to accrue. Rather, limitations began to run as soon as Carter was on notice that he might have

an actionable injury. Carter had four years from that time to investigate the precise nature and cause of his condition, and to file his lawsuit. Carter received the requisite notice by February 5, 1991, but waited more than four years to sue.

This Court's decision in *Bogorff* properly recognizes that legal certainty is not necessary to trigger the statute of limitations. The Court should adhere to its ruling in *Bogorff*, and should reject Petitioners' effort to change the law by imposing a standard requiring definitive knowledge to start the limitations period. The standard Petitioners advocate is unsupported by Florida law, is inconsistent with the Legislature's intent, and would lead to indefinite postponement of the limitations period. The Court should affirm the District Court's ruling that Petitioners' claims were time-barred.

Alternatively, the judgment and the jury verdict should be set aside, and a new trial should be ordered, because of the reversible errors found by the District Court. There is no express and direct conflict between the District Court's ruling that the trial court committed reversible errors, and any other ruling of a Florida appellate court. No such conflict was alleged by Petitioners; their petition to invoke this Court's jurisdiction was based solely on limitations. Thus, there is no need for the Court to address these additional issues on the merits. <u>See</u>, e.g., Sanchez v. Wimpey, 409 So.2d 20 (Fla. 1982)(in its discretion, the Court declined to consider merits of additional issues raised by petitioners).

<sup>1</sup> Rather, if the Court does not affirm the District Court's ruling that Petitioners' claims were time-barred, it should

direct that a new trial be held for the reasons expressed by the District Court. Out of an abundance of caution, we have argued

these issues below.

Ι

### THE DISTRICT COURT CORRECTLY APPLIED THE LAW AS DEFINED BY THIS COURT, AND THE CHANGES WHICH PETITIONERS ADVOCATE WILL NOT MAKE THE LAW CLEARER OR MORE DEFINITE.

The Legislature did not intend to allow a person unlimited time to achieve certainty as to the nature and cause of an injury, and then four additional years for the sole purpose of deciding whether or not to file a lawsuit. Logic suggests a more sensible intent: the Legislature allowed a generous four years in which to conduct a factual investigation to determine the precise nature and cause of an injury, once the injured person has reasonable notice of the possibility that he or she has suffered an injury caused by another. That is the interpretation applied by this Court, and followed by the District Court.

### A. The District Court Properly Applied This Court's Well Established Rule That Certainty Is Not Necessary For Limitations To Begin Running.

The District Court held that "the evidence shows beyond dispute that Grady Carter knew or should have known, before February 10, 1991, that his lungs were injured, and he was on notice that the injury was probably caused by smoking." 723 So.2d at 836. Based on *Bogorff*, the District Court ruled that "Neither absolute knowledge nor medical confirmation is required for a cause of action to accrue." *Id*. The fact that Mr. Carter was not told the results of tissue analysis until February 14 did not present a jury question as to when limitations began to run.

This Court clearly held in *Bogorff* that knowledge to a reasonable possibility, not legal certainty, will begin the limitations clock. The Court expressly rejected legal certainty as the start of the limitations period:

The knowledge required to commence the limitation period, however, does not rise to that of legal certainty. . . . Plaintiffs need only have notice, through the exercise of reasonable diligence, of the possible invasion of their legal rights. . . .

583 So.2d at 1004 (citations omitted)(emphasis added). The plaintiffs' claim in *Bogorff* accrued as a matter of law when they knew "of a dramatic change" in their son's condition, and of the *"possible"* involvement of a drug made by the defendant in causing the injuries. *Id.* (emphasis added).

The District Court properly relied on *Bogorff* to conclude that Carter's products liability claims were time-barred. Like the plaintiffs in *Bogorff*, Carter argues that his condition, prior to February 10, 1991, could not be distinguished from a disease unrelated to the defendant's product. But *Bogorff* teaches that it was not necessary for Carter to be "legally certain" of his condition for limitations to begin running. The limitations period began to run as soon as Carter was reasonably on notice of the possibility that he had been injured by smoking. As a matter of law, Carter's knowledge by February 5, 1991 of a possible invasion of his legal rights was enough to trigger the statute.

2

Cases involving affirmative *mis-diagnosis*, such as *Celotex Corp*. *v. Copeland*, 471 So.2d 533 (Fla. 1985), and *Ash v.\_Stella*, 457 So.2d 1377 (Fla. 1984), are consistent with the Court's later

# holding in *Bogorff*. Those cases involved circumstances far different from this case.

In Copeland, two doctors told the plaintiff his shortness of breath was due to pneumonia and emphysema; neither linked the plaintiff's breathing problems to dusty job conditions. The plaintiff was not diagnosed with asbestosis until years later. Ash also involved a diagnosis that was needed to correct a prior mis-diagnosis. The plaintiff's cause of action for medical malpractice, based on the defendant's failure to diagnose a tumor, did not accrue until tests showed that the initial

diagnosis was erroneous.1

When a claimant has been affirmatively misled by an erroneous diagnosis and has no reason to suspect the error, as in *Copeland* and *Ash*, the plaintiff has no reason to inquire further and has not received notice of a possible cause of action. Carter, in contrast, was never given an erroneous diagnosis nor misled about the relationship between his condition and smoking. In *Copeland*, the Third DCA noted that the "decisive" factor in that case was

that the plaintiff had been told by two doctors that his shortness of breath was due to pneumonia and emphysema, not asbestos. Copeland v. Armstrong Cork Co., 447 So.2d 922, 928 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1984). This mis-diagnosis, the court said, "could lead a reasonable person to conclude, as the plaintiff did, that his condition was not related to the asbestos dust at all." Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Barnes v. Clark Sand Co., 721 So.2d 329 (Fla. 1st DCA 1998), also involved a mis-diagnosis. The plaintiff's left lung was removed in 1984, and he was told that the surgery was due to cancer. Later, he was told that he had a fungal infection. He claimed he first became aware that his lung problems might be due to silica in 1992.

Here, the District Court properly distinguished *Copeland*. 723 So.2d at 835-36. Carter was never told, and never concluded, that his condition was not related to smoking "at all." A formal diagnosis was simply not needed to alert Carter to his potential

### claims.<sup>2</sup>

## B. The District Court Properly Determined That There Was No Issue of Fact For The Jury To Decide.

Petitioners urge the Court to create a rule that statute of limitations in all "latent disease" cases should automatically be sent to the jury. They argue that the time between exposure and manifestation of a latent injury "is so attenuated that the lay person does not automatically have knowledge of the connection between the two"; Petitioners suggest a jury could reasonably determine that "medical confirmation is necessary for the plaintiff to have 'knowledge of the injury'" in such a case. (Petitioners' Initial Brief, at 8.)

Petitioners' argument is flawed, because there is nothing uniformly unique about cases involving latent diseases which would justify treating them as an entire category separate from general rules of law regarding jury issues. In any given case, there either are, or are not, genuine issues of material fact regarding the plaintiff's knowledge of the cause of his injury, regardless of the nature of the disease. The latency of the disease might, in a given case, contribute to the conclusion that

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Petitioners argue that the District Court read *Copeland* "too narrowly," since a jury question is presented where "the Plaintiff has reason to believe he does not have a product-related disease." (Petitioners' Initial Brief, at 11-12.) That argument has no relation to the facts of this case. Carter had no reason to believe that he did *not* have a product-related disease; he believed he probably *did* have a smoking-related illness.

a plaintiff did not have notice of the possibility of an actionable injury. But there is no reason to establish, as a matter of law, that this is always the case.

As a fall back, Petitioners argue that the facts in this case created an issue for jury resolution, because a diagnosis of tuberculosis or pneumonia could not be excluded. (Petitioners' Initial Brief, at 13-19.)

Petitioners' argument misses the point. The statute of limitations begins running upon knowledge of a reasonable possibility of an actionable injury, even if other possibilities cannot be definitively excluded. The plaintiff is given four years to determine whether or not the injury is actionable. In this case, the evidence was overwhelming and undisputed that Mr. Carter had more than adequate notice of the possibility that he had lung cancer as a result of smoking. Indeed, the evidence came in the form of Carter's own testimony.

Carter had no difficulty at all linking his lung condition to smoking prior to February 5, 1991. Carter quit smoking on January 29 before he even saw a doctor, precisely because of his fear that he had lung cancer (a fear that only intensified on February 4 with the discovery of the lung mass). Carter did not need a doctor to suggest that his condition might be related to smoking. He reached that conclusion on his own, based on what he had heard and read for years. Once Carter was aware that his condition might be related to smoking, his claim accrued as a matter of law.

Petitioners cite Brown v. Armstrong World Industries, Inc., 441 So.2d 1098 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1983), and Szabo v. Ashland\_Oil Co.,

448 So.2d 549 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1984), both of which are factually different from this case. An issue of fact was present in *Szabo* because medical science had not established a connection between the product in question and the plaintiff's illness until 1977. Of course the plaintiff's claims did not accrue until 1977 -- no plaintiff using due diligence could possibly have gathered all the facts necessary to maintain an action before then.

In *Brown*, the plaintiff was not informed until 1979 that he had an asbestos-related disease. When asked "in your mind, did you relate the shortness of breath that you were having to your career in [the] asbestos industry," the plaintiff responded "No, because I didn't want to." 441 So.2d at 1100. That is a far cry from Grady Carter, whose very first reaction when he began to experience symptoms was to suspect smoking as the cause.

The Third DCA's short, per curiam opinion in Brown did not pronounce a broad new standard that requires proof "to a reasonable medical certainty" for the statute of limitations to begin running in any case involving a latent disease. The Third DCA did not cite any authority for such a sweeping proposition. Nor has any other court ever applied such a standard to Florida's four year limitations period, in the absence of a prior misdiagnosis.

3

Even if Szabo and Brown suggest that a cause of action cannot accrue until medical confirmation of the plaintiff's injury, that suggestion was later rejected by this Court in Bogorff. Indeed, Florida cases since Szabo and Brown have consistently rejected any argument that legal or medical certainty is needed for

limitations to begin running. See, e.g., Senger Bros. v. E.I.
DuPont de Nemours & Co., 184 F.R.D. 674, 685 (M.D. Fla.

1999)("The knowledge required to commence the running of the statutes of limitation does not need to be a legal certainty."); Samson v. R.J. Reynolds Tobacco Co., 1997 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 8062 (M.D. Fla. 1997)("The fact that Plaintiff may not have been 'medically diagnosed' with emphysema is irrelevant. Such knowledge is not required by Florida law."); Bowers v. Northern Telecom, Inc., 1995 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 20141 (N.D. Fla. 1995)(a "formal medical diagnosis" is not necessarily needed for limitations to begin running); see also Steiner v. Ciba-Geigy Corp., 364 So.2d 47 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1978), cert. denied, 373 So.2d 461 (Fla. 1979).

### C. The Court Should Not Change Florida Law By Requiring Definitive Knowledge For A Claim To Accrue As A Matter Of Law.

Respondent does not argue that "every passing cough, sneeze, or ailment" -- whether real or "imagined" -- triggers the statute of limitations. (Petitioners' Initial Brief, at 9.) When Carter spit up blood on January 29, 1991, that was not a "passing cough." Carter's doctors did not treat it that way, and Carter realized that something was *"very bad wrong with me."* (R 53: 2297.) Nor was the sinister mass discovered in Carter's lung on February 4 something that was "imagined"; Carter and his doctors believed that most likely, it was cancer.

The undisputed evidence showed that by February 5, 1991, Carter knew there was a strong probability that he had lung cancer due to smoking. Thus, a change in current law to anything short of certain diagnosis would not alter the outcome of this

case, and it is understandable that Petitioners urge the Court to adopt a rule requiring a certain diagnosis to commence the limitations period. But such a rule would be contrary to the purpose of the statute, and would not bring clarity or certainty to the law.

Statutes of limitations are designed to balance the interest of defendants in not being forced to construct a defense from "faded memories, misplaced or discarded records, and missing or deceased witnesses," *Allie v. Ionata*, 503 So.2d 1237 (Fla. 1987), and after "the facts have become obscure from the lapse of time," *Whaley v. Wotring*, 225 So.2d 177 (Fla. 1st DCA 1969), against the interest of the plaintiff in having sufficient time to investigate a possible claim. Statutes of limitation are not designed to give a plaintiff time to conduct an investigation, and then an *additional* extended period in which to sit on rights which are manifest. The statute allows the plaintiff time to investigate rights *and* file a lawsuit after reasonable notice of a potential claim.

The reasoning of the U.S. Court of Appeals for the First Circuit
(applying Massachusetts law) reflects this principle. Cornell v.
E.I. DuPont de Nemours & Co., 841 F.2d 23 (1st Cir. 1988). The
court held that a claim accrued when the plaintiff associated his
respiratory problems with exposure to paint fumes, not upon
receipt of a formal diagnosis of chronic obstructive lung

### disease:

The plaintiffs need not know that their injuries are legally compensable . . ., but rather they must be put on notice such that they have a 'duty to discover from the legal, scientific, and medical communities whether the theory of causation is

supportable and whether it supports a legal claim.' Id., at 24 (citations omitted). Once on notice of a likely relation between their injury and the defendant's conduct, "the plaintiffs have three years to ascertain whether their claims are legally supportable." Id. Other courts have applied similar reasoning and have also held that a definitive diagnosis is not needed to begin the limitations period.

3

If certain knowledge of the nature and cause of the plaintiff's illness were required for the statute to begin running, the intended purpose of requiring diligent inquiry would be lost, and

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